FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
1/15/2025 2:33 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No.		
(C	OA No.	86195-6)

Case #: 1037953

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

RAMIRO VALDERRAMA,

Petitioner/Plaintiff,

v.

CITY OF SAMMAMISH, a Washington municipal corporation,

Respondent/Defendant.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

FOSTER GARVEY PC

Patrick J. Schneider, WSBA No. 11957 Angelo Marchesini, WSBA No. 57051 1111 Third Avenue, Suite 3000 Seattle, Washington 98101 Telephone: (206) 447-4400 pat.schneider@foster.com angelo.marchesini@foster.com

Attorneys for Petitioner Ramiro Valderrama

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case raises a fundamental unresolved issue under the PRA: what must an agency do to conduct an adequate search for public records when presented with evidence that its government officials acted in bad faith when searching for public records on their personal devices? In this case, the City of Sammamish chose not to take any action to enforce the PRA when presented with evidence that elected City councilmembers conducted City business on private devices but submitted affidavits in bad faith stating otherwise, and even tried to destroy such records.

Despite finding that there were disputed facts about whether at least one City official (Councilmember Treen) acted in bad faith, the Court of Appeals concluded that the City had met its burden to show that it conducted an adequate search under the PRA and had no further duty to search for records. But that decision either ignores the good faith requirement in *Nissen* or

grants the City a presumption of an adequate search when it relies on affidavits it knows were executed in bad faith.

The decision leaves the public without a remedy where bad faith affidavits and other evidence indicate that a government employee or official is withholding or destroying public records private devices. In short, the Court of Appeals overemphasized the private rights of public employees and officials to the detriment of the public's right to know the content of public records, which are public property. RCW 40.14.020. The Court of Appeals decision conflicts with this Court's precedent in *Nissen* and also highlights a gap in Washington case law (not directly addressed in Nissen) about what the PRA requires when an affidavit is not submitted in good faith by public officials who use their private devices to conduct agency business. This case squarely presents that issue for resolution.

A. Factual Background

This case involves PRA requests submitted to the City of Sammanish by Ramiro Valderrama, a former Deputy Mayor

who served on the City Council for eight years. CP 1938. After he left office, Mr. Valderrama submitted multiple PRA requests to the City out of concern that City councilmembers serving in 2021 and 2022 were not engaging in an "open legislative process." CP 1938.

In particular, Mr. Valderrama was concerned that councilmembers were conducting City business through encrypted, external, and personal channels. Mr. Valderrama therefore submitted three related public records requests ("PRRs") (PRR 4241, 4244, and 4280), which asked for all communications councilmembers had through such channels. CP 16, 1939, 2883.

The City has policies instructing councilmembers to conduct City business only through authorized channels, and to forward to the City any communications received through other channels. CP 2881. But evidence in the record demonstrates that councilmembers were not complying with those policies at the time of Mr. Valderrama's PRRs, and that the City knew of this

noncompliance. See e.g., CP 2881 (Michael Scoles during public comment stated he received confidential information from Councilmember Malchow and others, which Mr. Valderrama had not received in response to PRR); see also CP 2881–82. For example, one resident, Stephanie Rudat, testified during the public comment portion of a City Council meeting in May 2022 that she had information of thousands of encrypted City-related communications (WhatsApp texts and data) involving multiple councilmembers. CP 2881–82; CP 746. Ms. Rudat had already offered to show these messages to an attorney conducting an investigation for the City; that attorney declined the offer, and the City never requested the records. CP 2988–89.

Worse, as will be discussed more below, there is also evidence in the record of a culture of noncompliance with the PRA by City leadership, including the destruction of relevant records. CP 2519; CP 1808 (chief executive of the City Dave Rudat telling Councilmembers Malchow and Treen by text message: "Delete this email and all others with me, miki, etc.

Kimsey and some guy named c.m. cutter are requesting emails between miki and contractors, city council, attorneys, city staff ... pass the word and delete ...").

Moreover, while Mr. Valderrama's PRA request was pending, the City Council enacted a policy that violates the PRA on its face by acquiescing in a former official's refusal to submit a declaration that complies with *Nissen*. CP 1542–43. A city cannot meet its burden to demonstrate that it conducted an adequate search by adopting a policy that authorizes no search when an official declines to cooperate.

These issues became apparent in the City's response to the PRRs issued by Mr. Valderrama. Affidavits of Councilmembers Treen, Ross, and Moran were incomplete, insufficient, and/or contained false statements. Although there are other examples

¹ See Appellant's Br. at 41–55 (discussing evidence of bad faith); CP 1334–35 (Councilmember Malchow's January 31, 2023 affidavit regarding PRR 4280 indicating she deleted unredacted

versions of records); CP 146 (Councilmember Malchow's deposition testimony that one of her Nissen affidavits is not accurate) ("Q. Well, you didn't produce any WhatsApp, Signal, Slack or Telegram records in response to when you said you had

of bad faith regarding the *Nissen* affidavits by councilmembers, cited extensively in Petitioner's briefing to the Court of Appeals, this Petition focuses on Councilmember Treen in light of the Court of Appeals' discussion of Councilmember Treen's search for records in its decision.

.....

provided all records, had you? A. No, because I had still -- no. I probably -- no, I hadn't."). Compare CP 1293 (Councilmember Ross's October 17, 2022 affidavit for PRR 4280 which does not identify Telegram account), with CP 1296 (Councilmember Ross's December 19, 2022 affidavit for PRR 4280 which admits Telegram account). Compare CP 1302–03 (Councilmember Gamblin's January 29, 2023 affidavit for PRR 4280 indicating he does not use messaging platforms other than WhatsApp, Telegram), with CP 1869 (Scoles deposition testimony that Councilmember Gamblin communicated via Slack). Compare CP 1381 (Treen's May 30, 2023 affidavit for PRR 4241 stating he has not communicated with citizen Miki Mullor or Michael Scoles about City business through and/or Facebook WhatsApp, Slack, Telegram private messenger); CP 1386–87 (Councilmember Treen's May 30, 2023 affidavit for PRR 4244 stating has not communicated with Mullor, Scoles about City business through WhatsApp, Slack, Telegram and/or Facebook private messenger); CP 1396–97 (Treen's May 9, 2023 affidavit for PRR 4280 stating to the best of knowledge he did not communicate with citizens about City business through WhatsApp, Slack, Telegram, or Facebook Private Messenger), with CP 1869 (Scoles deposition testimony that he is "certain that Treen and Gamblin were on it," referring to Slack).

First, and most concerningly, there are sufficient facts in the record to show that Councilmember Treen acted in bad faith. The record contains a text message from then-City Manager Dave Rudat to Councilmember Treen stating, "Delete this email and all others with me, miki, etc., Kimsey . . . pass the word and delete . . ." because the records were being requested. CP 1808 (identifying Exhibit 3 to Treen deposition); CP 3138–39 (Treen deposition transcript identifying Exhibit 3). The City Council censured Councilmember Treen for "knowingly fail[ing] to report" this request "to violate the Washington State Public Records Act, chapter 42.56 RCW," but the City took no further action to identify, recover, and produce the records that the City Manager asked Treen to delete. CP 1811–12.

Second, Treen asked a City vendor for help "scrubbing" his cell phone. CP 1877–80. Treen later denied that this was true, CP 1882, but a sworn declaration of the vendor stated that "Councilmember Kent Treen approached me at the staff table and asked me for help 'scrubbing' his phone." CP 1876–77.

Treen refused to provide the City with his personal devices even though the City requested them, and the City again took no further action. CP 1882 (City's request to search phone); CP 99.

And finally, Treen falsely stated in multiple affidavits that he did not use personal devices for City business. CP 1377 (Treen's March 1, 2022 affidavit for PRR 4241 falsely stating he does not use any personal devices or accounts for City business); CP 1383 (Treen's March 1, 2022 affidavit for PRR 4244 falsely stating he does not use personal devices or accounts for City business); CP 1389 (Treen's March 1, 2022 affidavit for PRR 4280 falsely stating he does not use personal devices or accounts for City business). The record shows over 30 pages of text messages between Councilmembers Treen and Malchow, many of which were about City business. CP 2989 (letter); CP 2997–3031 (text messages).²

² CP 1869–72 (Scoles testimony he communicated with Treen via Slack); CP 1857–58 (email regarding City business sent to Treen's personal email account); CP 1823–55 (text messages between Treen and Malchow).

B. Procedural Background

Mr. Valderrama ultimately filed this lawsuit for violations of the PRA in March 2023, over a year after he submitted his request. CP 1. The City continued to produce records following the filing of the lawsuit. CP 1947–48.

The City filed a summary judgment motion seeking a dismissal of the suit on the ground that it had conducted an adequate search. CP 362. Conversely, Mr. Valderrama filed a motion for partial summary judgment that the City violated the PRA by failing to conduct an adequate search of the records. CP 1464, 1467. The trial court granted the City's motion and denied Mr. Valderrama's motion, CP 3231–45, and concluded that the City had conducted an adequate search, CP 3242–44.

In its written order, the trial court resolved multiple disputed factual issues in favor of the City regarding the existence of bad faith, even though the City was the moving party and also the party with the burden of proof under the PRA. *See* CP 3242–43 at ¶ 30 ("But the undisputed evidence shows that

the councilmembers updated their *Nissen* Declarations after obtaining new facts or clarifications and then conducting different searches. Even if the declarations initially lacked sufficient details, the declarants provided additional details to explain the efforts undertaken. The undisputed facts show that they were made in good faith."); CP 3243 ¶ 34; CP 3238–39 ¶ 19 (wrongly noting there is no dispute regarding material facts). The superior court's order also states that there is no allegation of record destruction, which was also not correct. CP 3238.

Mr. Valderrama appealed the trial court's order. The Court of Appeals upheld the trial court's summary judgment dismissal of Valderrama's claims and concluded that the City had met its burden to demonstrate it performed an adequate search under the PRA. *Valderrama v. City of Sammamish*, No. 86195-6-I, 2024 WL 5116865 (Dec. 16, 2024). In its decision, the Court of Appeals noted that there were disputed facts about Treen's conduct and whether his affidavit was made in bad faith: "In any event, Valderrama is correct that this evidence presents a

disputed issue of fact as to whether Treen sought to delete information from his cell phone." *Id.* at *6.

Nonetheless, the Court of Appeals concluded Valderrama was "incorrect that the disputed fact is material to whether the City conducted an adequate search." Id. The Court of Appeals held that the City was not required to do any further searching of Councilmember Treen's personal devices for public records even taking the evidence of bad faith as true: "Indeed, while our Supreme Court has not specifically addressed whether an agency suspecting bad faith must sue to forensically examine an employee's personal device, it has suggested that such an infringement on employees' privacy rights is unnecessary to conduct an adequate search." Id. at *7. The Court of Appeals relied exclusively on this Court's statements in Nissen that deference to a public employee in their search balances the interest employees have in personal devices with the public's interest in such information: "And, despite its imperfections, the

process strikes an acceptable balance between personal liberty and government accountability." *Id*.

V. <u>ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE</u> <u>ACCEPTED</u>

A. The Court of Appeals Decision Conflicts With This Court's Precedent In *Nissen*. [RAP 13.4(b)(1)]

This Court should grant review because the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with this Court's precedent in *Nissen*, which states that a public entity can conduct an adequate search of personal devices for public records under the PRA if that employee provides a good faith affidavit of their search. *Nissen v. Pierce Cnty.*, 183 Wn.2d 863, 884–85, 888, 357 P.3d 45 (2015).

In *Nissen*, this Court rejected the contention that public records are beyond the reach of the PRA merely because a public official conducts public business on a private cell phone:

Yet the ability of public employees to use cell phones to conduct public business by creating and exchanging public records—text messages, e-mails, or anything else—is why *the PRA must offer the public a way to obtain those records*. Without one, the PRA cannot fulfill the people's mandate to have

"full access to information concerning the conduct of government on every level." Laws of 1973, ch. 1, § 1(11).

Id. at 884 (emphasis added).

Nissen identified a specific procedure to balance the public's interest in public records with an employee's privacy interest in a personal device: permitting officials to search their own devices and provide reasonably detailed affidavits. See id. This Court emphasized that such affidavits strike the requisite balance only when given in good faith: "When done in good faith, this procedure allows an agency to fulfill its responsibility to search for and disclose public records without unnecessarily treading on the constitutional rights of its employees." Id. at 886–87 (emphasis added).

Here, the Court of Appeals recognized that this case involves <u>bad faith</u> affidavits by elected officials. Indeed, the Court of Appeals recognized that Valderrama raised disputed facts regarding Councilmember Treen's bad faith concerning statements made in his affidavit: "In any event, Valderrama is

correct that this evidence presents a disputed issue of fact as to whether Treen sought to delete information from his cell phone." *Valderrama*, 2024 WL 5116865, at *6.³

Nonetheless, in the face of disputed facts about bad faith destruction of public records, the Court of Appeals concluded Valderrama was "incorrect that the disputed fact is material to whether the City conducted an adequate search." *Id.* The Court of Appeals reasoned the City had conducted an adequate search in spite of the bad faith, relying exclusively on this Court's statements in *Nissen* that deference to a public employee in their search balances the interest employees have in personal devices with the public's interest in such information. *Id.*

But the Court of Appeals glossed over *Nissen's* requirement that affidavits must be executed in good faith to strike that balance, and in doing so rendered meaningless the

³ While the Court of Appeals focused on Treen, the record demonstrates many other instances of bad faith as well. *See* Appellant's Br. at 41–55 (describing misstatements in many *Nissen* affidavits and bad faith by multiple elected officials).

"good faith" requirement. *See Nissen*, 183 Wn.2d at 885. The Court of Appeals overweighted the private interest in personal devices to the detriment of the public's interest in records of its government: there is no privacy interest in public records, even when located on a personal device. *West v. Vermillion*, 196 Wn. App. 627, 638, 384 P.3d 634 (2016) (councilmember had no privacy interest in public records contained in personal e-mail account). Indeed, the requirement of good faith in the affidavit is necessary to ensure public records cannot be hidden or destroyed by government employees. The Court of Appeals' conclusion that no further action was needed by the City when bad faith is plainly demonstrated contradicts *Nissen*.

The Court of Appeals opinion further conflicts with *Nissen* because it can be read to allow agencies to avoid their burden to show an adequate search by granting a presumption that a city's search is compliant with the PRA when any affidavit is provided by an official using private devices to conduct city business, even when there is evidence that the affidavit was not made in good

faith. This completely undermines *Nissen*'s holding requiring good faith affidavits in the first instance. *See West v. City of Tacoma*, 12 Wn. App. 2d 45, 80–82, 456 P.3d 894 (2020). Review is warranted because the Court of Appeals opinion lessens the City's burden to demonstrate an adequate search as articulated in *Nissen* and other cases.⁴

B. The Court of Appeals Decision Presents an Issue of Substantial Public Interest. [RAP 13.4(b)(4)]

This Court should also grant review to address an issue of substantial public interest that *Nissen* left unanswered: what does the PRA require of an agency's search of personal devices when there is evidence that an employee or official's search was not

⁴ Similarly, the need for this Court's review is further evidenced by the City's policy allowing it to close a records request after former City officials refuse or fail to submit a *Nissen* declaration. CP 1542–43. This procedure violates the PRA on its face and, if allowed in this case, could allow other agencies to avoid their duties to conduct adequate searches. *See Neighborhood All. of Spokane Cnty. v. Spokane Cnty.*, 172 Wn.2d 702, 720, 261 P.3d 119 (2011) ("[A]gencies are required to make more than a perfunctory search and to follow obvious leads as they are uncovered" and must search locations records are "*reasonably likely* to be found." (emphasis in original)).

done in good faith. *Nissen* removed any doubt that the PRA "must offer the public a way to obtain those records." 183 Wn.2d at 884.

A public agency bears the burden to establish its search was adequate "beyond material doubt." City of Tacoma, 12 Wn. App. 2d at 80. "Additionally, agencies are required to make more than a perfunctory search and to follow obvious leads as they are uncovered." Neighborhood All. of Spokane Cnty., 172 Wn.2d at 720 (internal citations omitted). Such a search should be consistent with the PRA's purposes: "The stated purpose of the Public Records Act is nothing less than the preservation of the most central tenets of representative government, namely, the sovereignty of the people and the accountability to the people of public officials and institutions." Progressive Animal Welfare Soc. v. Univ. of Washington, 125 Wn.2d 243, 251, 884 P.2d 592 (1994).

The Court of Appeals here concluded that a "forensic" search was not required, even though that issue was not before it

because the trial court granted the City's motion that its search was adequate. *See Valderrama*, 2024 WL 5116865, at *6. But the Court of Appeals likewise recognized the lack of precedent for what is required of a public agency when bad faith is suspected: "Indeed, while our Supreme Court has not specifically addressed whether an agency suspecting bad faith must sue to forensically examine an employee's personal device, it has suggested that such an infringement on employees' privacy rights is unnecessary to conduct an adequate search." *Id.* at *7.

Valderrama is not advocating for a forensic examination every time bad faith is suspected, but it is clear that the *Nissen* procedure, permitting government officials to search their own devices, is premised on government officials acting in good faith. *Nissen*, 183 Wn.2d at 886–87. When government officials do not act in good faith, and less intrusive means of conducting an adequate search fail, a forensic examination may become the only way to conduct an adequate search. In such a case, a forensic examination can be structured to safeguard privacy, just as is

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