FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
2/14/2025 10:14 AM
BY SARAH R. PENDLETON
CLERK

No. 1037953 (COA NO. 86195-6)

THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

RAMIRO VALDERRAMA,

Petitioner-Plaintiff,

v.

CITY OF SAMMAMISH,

Respondent-Defendant.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Kari I. Lester, WSBA #28396 Attorney for Respondent, City of Sammamish

OGDEN MURPHY WALLACE, PLLC 701 5th Ave, Suite 5600 Seattle, WA 98104-7045 Tel: 206-447-7000/Fax: 206-447-0215

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

III. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

This Court grants review only if the criteria set forth in RAP 13.4(b) are met. These include: "(1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; ... or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." RAP 13.4(b). While premising his petition on subparts (1) and (4), Valderrama fails to show either a conflict with this Court's precedent or an issue of substantial public interest that would

warrant this Court's determination. This Court should deny review.

A. The City Complied with Its PRA Obligations.

1. <u>In Response to a PRR, an Agency Must Conduct an Adequate Search.</u>

The PRA requires government agencies to produce public records upon request unless an enumerated exemption applies. *Sanders v. State*, 169 Wn.2d 827, 836, 240 P.3d 120 (2010). After receiving a records request, an agency must respond in one of the following ways within five business days: (1) provide the record; (2) provide an internet address and link on the agency's web site to the specific records; (3) acknowledge receipt of the request and provide a reasonable estimate of time needed to provide clarification if the request is unclear, but provide a reasonable estimate of time needed to respond if the request is not clarified; or (5) deny the request, with a proper claim of

exemption. RCW 42.56.520(1); see also Belenski v. Jefferson Cty., 186 Wn.2d 452, 456-57, 378 P.3d 176 (2016).

A public records request must be for identifiable records. RCW 42.56.080(1); Fisher Broad-Seattle TV, LLC v. City of Seattle, 180 Wn.2d 515, 522, 326 P.3d 688 (2014). A record is identifiable when the requester gives "a reasonable description enabling the government employee to locate the requested records." Bonamy v. City of Seattle, 92 Wn. App. 403, 410, 960 P.2d 447 (1998). The PRA does not "require public agencies to be mind readers." Id. at 409. An agency may ask the requester to clarify an unclear request and, if the request is not clarified, the agency needs only respond to the portion that is clear. RCW 42.56.520(3).

A requester may bring an action under the PRA only for two causes, to challenge an agency's alleged: (1) denial of "an opportunity to inspect or copy a public record," and/or (2) estimate of time to respond to the request. RCW 42.56.550(1)-(2).

A claim relating to an agency's alleged denial of "an opportunity to inspect or copy a public record" may be premised on an alleged failure to adequately search for records because the "failure to perform an adequate search is tantamount to a denial of the request." *West v. City of Tacoma*, 12 Wn. App. 2d 45, 79, 456 P.3d 894 (2020).

2. The Adequacy of a Search May Be Determined on Summary Judgment.

An adequate search under the PRA requires agencies to search in a manner that is *reasonably* calculated to uncover all relevant documents. *Neighborhood Alliance of Spokane Cty. v. Spokane Cty.*, 172 Wn.2d 702, 721, 261 P.3d 119, 138 (2011) (emphasis added). "This is not to say, of course, that an agency must search every possible place a record may conceivably be stored, but only those places where it is reasonably likely to be found." *Id.*

To establish that its search was adequate in a motion for summary judgment, "the agency may rely on

reasonably detailed, nonconclusory affidavits submitted in good faith." *Block v. City of Gold Bar*, 189 Wn. App. 262, 271, 355 P.3d 266 (2015). The affidavits should include the search terms (if applicable) and the type of search performed and should establish that all places likely to contain responsive materials were searched. *Forbes v. City of Gold Bar*, 171 Wn. App. 857, 868, 288 P.3d 384 (2012), *rev. den.*, 177 Wn.2d 1002 (2013). This procedure satisfies the agency's burden to show its search was adequate "beyond material doubt." *Neighborhood Alliance*, 172 Wn.2d at 721.

The Court then conducts a fact-specific inquiry to determine if an agency's search was reasonable. *Id.* It bases that determination on the scope of the agency's search, not on whether the requester has presented alternative searches they believe would have more accurately produced the requested records. *Tacoma*, 12 Wn. App. 2d at 79 (citing *Hobbs v. State*, 183 Wn. App. 925, 944, 335 P.3d 1004 (2014)). The issue of whether a search was reasonably calculated, and therefore

adequate, is separate and apart from whether additional responsive documents exist but are not found. *Id.* (citing *Neighborhood Alliance*, 172 Wn.2d at 720). A search may be adequate and still fail to identify responsive records. *Id.* (noting that the "mere fact that a record is eventually found does not itself establish the inadequacy of an agency's search").

Once "an agency makes a prima facie showing it has conducted an adequate search, the requester must rebut that showing." *Neighborhood Alliance*, 172 Wn.2d at 741. Speculative claims about the existence and discoverability of other documents will not overcome agency testimony, which is accorded a presumption of good faith, even on summary judgment. *See Forbes*, 171 Wn. App. at 867-68.

3. The City Complied with Its Obligation to Perform an Adequate Search Under This Court's Precedent.

In *Nissen*, this Court directly addressed a public agency's obligations when a PRA request implicates materials held on public employees' or officials' personal devices. *Nissen*, 183

Wn.2d at 883. The Court held that the agency employees and agents must search their own "files, devices, and accounts for records responsive to a relevant PRA request" and then "produce any public records" to the agency for review and disclosure. *Id.* at 883-86. The employees or agents may then submit "reasonably detailed, nonconclusory affidavits' attesting to the nature and extent of their search," to show the agency conducted an adequate search. *Id.* (quoting *Neighborhood Alliance*, 172 Wn.2d at 721).

The City followed precisely the procedure outlined by *Nissen* and conducted adequate searches for records responsive to Valderrama's requests: it asked its current (and former) elected officials to search their personal devices and accounts for responsive records, obtained affidavits and/or declarations¹ from them that comply with *Nissen*'s standards, and then disclosed any

¹ GR 13 allows a declaration to be utilized in lieu of an "affidavit." *See also Scott v. Petett*, 63 Wn. App. 50, 57, 816 P.2d 1229 (1991).

responsive records and affidavits/declarations to Valderrama. *See Nissen*, 183 Wn.2d at 886-87. The record, which spans more than 1,600 pages, demonstrates the City's extensive efforts in this regard and its elected officials' good-faith searches. *See* § II, B, *supra*; CP 2668-793. The City met its adequate search obligations and was entitled to summary judgment. *Id.* at 884-85.

B. <u>Valderrama Fails to Demonstrate a Conflict with</u> <u>This Court's Precedent.</u>

Under RAP 13.4(b)(1), the only decision of this Court that Valderrama claims the Decision conflicts with is *Nissen*. His argument seeking this Court's review relies on a single sentence in *Nissen* that presumes good faith. Pet. at 14-18. After outlining the affidavit procedure, this Court wrote:

When done in good faith, this procedure allows an agency to fulfill its responsibility to search for and disclose public records without unnecessarily treading on the constitutional rights of its employees.

Nissen, 183 Wn.2d at 886–87. Valderrama fails to show a conflict with this sentence, and the record presents no evidence that the searches were not conducted in good faith.

1. <u>Valderrama Failed to Rebut the</u>
<u>Presumption that Treen Executed His</u>
Affidavits/Declarations in Good Faith.

Valderrama tries to manufacture a conflict by claiming that "the Court of Appeals recognized that this case involves bad faith affidavits by elected officials." Pet. at 15. He further claims that "the Court of Appeals recognized that Valderrama raised disputed facts regarding Treen's bad faith concerning statements made in his affidavit: 'In any event, Valderrama is correct that this evidence presents a disputed issue of fact as to whether Treen sought to delete information from his cell phone." Pet. at 15-16 (quoting *Valderrama*, 561 P.3d at 298).²

² The City focuses on Treen because he is the sole focus of Valderrama's Petition. In two footnotes, however, Valderrama asks this Court to consider the additional arguments he made at pp. 41-55 of his opening brief at the Court of Appeals. The City submits that this is an improper attempt to avoid this Court's length limitations. To the extent the Court is inclined to consider

Valderrama's characterization of what Division I "recognized" is disingenuous. The Court was not referring to statements in Treen's affidavits in the quoted passages. It was referring to a dispute over what Treen meant when he reportedly asked a City information technology employee (a year after Valderrama submitted PRR 4280) for help "scrubbing" his phone. Valderrama, 561 P.3d at 298. The employee apparently "assumed" Treen was asking to delete information from his personal phone, while Treen testified that he was trying to obtain information from his City-issued phone. *Id.*; see also CP 1876-77; cf. CP 97-98. Division I recognized that this presented a dispute of fact as to what Treen wanted the employee to help him do, not—as to what Valderrama misrepresents—"bad faith." *Id*.

Valderrama thus wrongly conflates a question about Treen's intentions in this conversation with a question about whether he executed his *Nissen* affidavits in good faith. There is

the additional pages, the City requests that the Court also consider the City's Respondent's Br. at pp. 42-60, 66-68.

no evidence that Treen ever deleted information from his phone or that anything Treen declared in his *Nissen* affidavits was in any way inconsistent with the employee's testimony. Treen also testified that he never destroyed or deleted any records that were or could be related to City business. CP 92, 98, 106. Nowhere in the Decision did the Court recognize a question of fact about Treen's good faith in executing his affidavits.

Moreover, the Court correctly held that the question of fact it recognized—regarding Treen's intentions when he mentioned "scrubbing" his phone—was not material. *Valderrama*, 561 P.3d at 298. Valderrama argued that the implications of Treen's request required the City to take further action regarding Treen's personal devices. But the Court observed that the City took further action by seeking Treen's permission to conduct an examination of his devices. Treen refused. *Id*.

The Court of Appeals then provided a lengthy discussion regarding *Nissen* and why it does not require the City, if it believed Treen had asked for help in deleting information from

his phone, to compel a forensic examination of his devices against his will. The Court explained that Nissen "suggested that such an infringement on employees' privacy rights is unnecessary to conduct an adequate search." Id. It further noted that Nissen "recognized that its procedure for obtaining public records from employees' private devices 'might be criticized as too easily abused or too deferential to employees' judgment." Id. (quoting Nissen, 183 Wn.2d at 887). However, the Court read Nissen as reasoning "that the procedure is not uniquely deferential because 'an employee's judgment would often be required to help identify public records on a cell phone, even in an in camera review." Id. (quoting Nissen, 183 Wn.2d at 887). Recognizing the imperfections in the process, Division I reaffirmed Nissen's holding that the process "strikes an acceptable balance between personal liberty and government accountability." *Id.* (citing *Nissen*, 183 Wn.2d at 884).

The Court of Appeals thus faithfully applied *Nissen*. What Valderrama argues—that an agency must compel a forensic

examination of an elected official's personal device based upon a suspicion that the official has not conducted an adequate search—would conflict with this Court's refusal to "read the PRA as a zero-sum choice between personal liberty and government accountability." *Nissen*, 183 Wn.2d at 884.

2. The Presumption of Good Faith Does Not Conflict with *Nissen*.

Valderrama also argues that the Decision conflicts with *Nissen* because it "can be read as" lessening the burden on agencies by recognizing a "presumption that a city's search is compliant with the PRA when any affidavit is provided by an official using private devices to conduct city business, even when there is evidence that the affidavit was <u>not</u> made in good faith." Pet. at 17-18. The presumption of good faith in agency affidavits was recognized in this state's published jurisprudence before this Court decided *Nissen*. *See*, *e.g.*, *Forbes*, 171 Wn. App. at 867. It derives from federal jurisprudence applying the same presumption to agency affidavits issued under the Freedom of

Information Act. *See Trentadue v. F.B.I.*, 572 F.3d 794, 808 (10th Cir. 2009) ("Agency affidavits are accorded a presumption of good faith, which cannot be rebutted by purely speculative claims about the existence and discoverability of other documents.") (quoting *SafeCard Servs., Inc. v. S.E.C.*, 926 F.2d 1197, 1200 (D.C. Cir. 1991)).

Division I's application of that established presumption here is consistent with *Nissen*. Valderrama's claim is purely speculative: that because Treen might have asked someone for help with deleting information from his phone, he might not have been acting in good faith when he executed affidavits saying that he did not have communications with the public about City business on encrypted applications on his phone. To the extent the Decision "can be read" as holding that this speculation cannot overcome the presumption of good faith, or otherwise compel an involuntary forensic examination of an elected official's personal device, Valderrama does not show that such reasoning would conflict with *Nissen*. To the contrary, it is consistent with

Nissen's holding that the affidavit procedure, with its imperfections, strikes the proper balance between personal liberty and government accountability. *Nissen*, 183 Wn.2d at 884. Review is thus unwarranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1).³

C. <u>Valderrama Fails to Raise an Issue of Substantial Public Interest Meriting This Court's Review.</u>

Valderrama likewise fails to show that review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(4). The issue of substantial public interest Valderrama purports to identify is whether an agency must "conduct a further search for public records when presented with evidence that a public official provided a *Nissen* affidavit in bad faith." Pet. at 2-3. His request is not supported by either the facts or the law.

³ In a footnote, Valderrama claims that the need for review is "further evidenced" by certain City policies. Pet. at 18, n.4. Valderrama fails to explain how those policies establish a conflict between the Decision at issue here and this Court's precedent. In any event, as noted by Division I, Valderrama made no argument regarding the City's policies to the trial court. *Valderrama*, 561 P.3d at FN 5.

1. <u>Valderrama Fails to Establish Facts to</u> Justify Review.

Valderrama's proposed factual basis for this issue is again built entirely on his accusations against Treen. Valderrama references three incidents he believes show "bad faith" by Treen. None support his theory.

The first is the immaterial "scrubbing" testimony, which the City has addressed above.

The second is a text message that a former City Manager allegedly sent Treen in August 2020—eighteen months *before* Valderrama submitted PRR 4280—suggesting that Treen should delete certain emails. Pet. at 9; CP 1808. But there is no evidence that Treen ever deleted the emails in question, and Valderrama was clear that PRR 4280 did not seek email correspondence. CP 2136.

The third is that Treen initially signed affidavits in which he checked a box saying he had not searched his personal devices because he did not use them for City business. Pet. at 10. However, Treen later executed supplemental declarations, explaining that he initially checked the box in question by mistake. CP 2776-77, 2782-83, 2792. The supplemental declarations clarified Treen's efforts and explained that, regarding PRR 4280, he did not locate any public records responsive to Valderrama's request, and the only communications on the searched applications (to the extent there were any) were personal, related to family or campaign matters, or activities undertaken as a Sammamish resident. CP 2792-93.

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